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Abstract. This paper introduces Korean web accessibility activities, such as rela-
tional laws, ordinances, policies, guidelines. It also presents analytical result of 
the investigation on web-contents accessibilities of the 39 Korean government 
agencies. The result shows that only one agency provides web contents satisfy-
ing all the minimum requirements, while 97% of the agencies does not satisfy all 
the minimum requirements. Unfortunately, 6 agencies do not satisfy any. 

1   Introduction 

The dramatic development of information technology and internet penetration has 
brought information society forth. On information society, the source of wealth of the 
individual, the society and the nation is the ability to create and utilize information and 
knowledge. Also, internet access and use of it becomes an essential activity.  However, 
the disabled cannot access and use the internet because of his/her physical defects. 

Governments around the world have been worried about unequal internet accessi-
bility which deepens the social and economic discrimination around individuals, com-
munities, regions and nations. Global society increasingly depends on the internet to 
deliver information, enhance communications, improve education and conduct busi-
ness, so that equal internet access by the individual has become fundamental. 

Therefore, Web accessibility has become a main principle in many countries 
around the world. Developed countries such as U.S, U.K, Australia already have rec-
ognized the importance of web accessibility. In order to promote accessibility to the 
internet and telecommunication devices, they have enacted laws and regulations such 
as Section 508 of the Rehabilitation Act, DDA (Disability Discrimination Act) and 
have supported development of assistive technologies [5].  

However, Korean government had had a little concern about web accessibility. In 
2002, Ministry of Information and Communication (MIC) enacted ‘Recommendable 
Guidelines to improve accessibility for the disabled and the elderly to the IT services 
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and products. Recommendable guidelines have not been effective because they were 
not compulsory, such as obligations like Section 508.  

This paper presents policies and standardization of Korean government for web ac-
cessibility, as well as a survey of government web sites in Korea. The web sites for 
the 39 government agencies were examined using KADO-WAH, a web accessibility 
evaluation tool such as BobbyTM, and subsequent manual tests for 4 major check-
points among 14 Korean web accessibility checkpoints to determine their compliance 
of web accessibility. 

2   Overview of Korean Web Accessibility Legislations and 
Standard 

Korean government has already recognized the problem caused from the digital di-
vide. The former president Kim, Dae-Jung suggested several projects to solve the 
digital divide in Korea and Asia at ASEM summits in year 2000, APEC summits in 
2001 and ASEAN+3 summits in 2001. Furthermore, MIC made a master plan and 
executed several projects to bridge the digital divide. Since 2002, Korea has made an 
effort to improve web accessibility [4].  

2.1   Web Accessibility Policies in Korea   

Korean government has taken active steps toward solving the digital divide for the 
disabled. Polices for improving IT usage of the disabled are classified into 6 groups: 
developing assistvie technology for disabled people, providing IT learning 
opportunities, developing and distributing online contents, enacting laws and 
regulations for the disabled, constructing community access center, and distributing 
recycled personal computers.  

In order to improve the web accessibility for the disabled, the government has formu-
lated three important policies [1], [4]. Firstly, the government enacted laws and regula-
tions. In 2001, the National Assembly of Korea enacted ‘The Digital Divide Law’ and 
implemented "Master Plan for Closing The Digital Divide (2001~2005)". In this initia-
tive, the following four action plans were suggested: to provide at least one free internet 
accessible site in each local administration office (about 3,500 units), to train all the 
people who wish to learn the advanced as well as basic IT skills, to spread high-speed 
internet services throughout the nation including the remote areas by 2005, to assist the 
development of valuable online information for the disabled and the elderly.Second 
government policy is to support operation of the Information and Telecommunication 
Accessibility Promotion Standard Forum (http://www.iabf.or.kr) which is founded in 
2002. The purpose of the forum is to promote accessibility to telecommunication 
devices and telecommunications services through the sharing of relevant information 
among developers and scholars in this field. This forum is doing five major activities 
to achieve this purpose.   

1. Development of technical standards for improving accessibility to telecommunica-
tion devices and information service. 
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2. Sharing information on the trends of accessibility policies, laws and regulations 
and relevant technologies such as voice recognition and synthesis, digital talking 
book, various new technologies related to accessibility issues. 

3. Development of methods and tools needed to implement accessibility evaluation 
on telecommunication devices and information services. 

4. Cooperation with international organizations which deals with accessibility issues. 
5. Promotion of public awareness on accessibility items through holding seminars and 

workshops, making brochures and operating homepage. 

 

Fig. 1. Organization of Information and telecommunication Accessibility Promotion Standard 
Forum 

Results of activities today since 2002, the states of accessibility technologies and 
products have been thoroughly reviewed. Also, IABF forum developed web accessi-
bility evaluation tools such as Korean version of ‘A-Prompt’ in 2003 and “KADO-
WAH” in 2005. 

Third government policy is to support for the disabled people to buy assistive tech-
nologies such as screen reader, Braille display, telephone for hearing-impaired people, 
etc. Also, government has supported to develop assistive technologies for disabled 
people.  

2.2   Korean Web Contents Accessibility Guidelines  

The Korean Web Content Accessibility Guideline 1.0 (KWCAG 1.0) outlines design 
principles for creating accessible web contents. KWCAG 1.0 had adopted guidelines 
of Section 508 § 1194.22, a standard for accessible web-based intranet and internet 
information and applications.  

Similar to Section 508 § 1194.22, KWCAG1.0 puts into level 1 guidelines of 
WCAG1.0, a W3C prepared guidelines  

KWCAG 1.0 also had referred to Core checkpoints of W3C WCAG 2.0 as of June 
2003 that would be the minimum requirements. KWCAG 1.0 categorizes 14 check-
points into 4 basic principles, such as perceivable, operable, understandable and  
 



58 J. Hyun, D. Choi, and S. Kim 

Table 1. 14 Checkpoints of KWCAG 1.0 

# Checkpoint 

1 All non-text content that can be expressed in words has a text equivalent of the 
function or information that the non-text content was intended to convey 

2 For any time-based multi- media presentation, synchronize equivalent alterna-
tives with the presentation 

3 Web pages shall be designed so that all information conveyed with color is 
also available without color, for example from context or markup 

4 If image maps are used in the content, use client-side image map only or serv-
er-side image map with redundant text links

5 Use small number of frames of every web page, and title each frame to facili-
tate frame identification and navigation

6 Pages shall be designed to avoid causing the screen to flicker

7 All functionality is operable at a minimum through a keyboard or a keyboard 
interface

8 A method shall be provided that permits users to skip repetitive navigation 
links

9 When a timed response is required, the user shall be alerted and given suffi-
cient time to indicate more time is required

10 Data table should be designed to provide enough information about corre-
sponding cells

11 Structures and/or formats of documents shall be organized so they are under-
standable
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Table 1. (Continued) 

12 When electronic forms are designed to be completed on-line, the form shall 
allow people using assistive technology to access the information, field ele-

ments, and functionality required for completion and submission of the form, 
including all directions and cues 

13 Content elements, such as script, plug-ins, applets or other application can be 
used only when they can provide equivalent information using the current 

assistive technology 

A text-only page, with equivalent information or functionality, shall be pro-
vided to make a web site comply with the provisions of this part, when com-

pliance cannot be accomplished in any other way. The content of the text-only 
page shall be updated whenever the primary page change 

  
14 

# Checkpoint 

 

robust. Perceivable web content implies that all content can be presented in the form 
that can be perceived by any user [1], [2]. Operable web content ensures that the inter-
face elements in the content are operable by any user. Web content and controls that 
are easy to understand, they are known to be understandable. Robust web content is to 
use web technologies that maximize the ability of the content to work with current 
and future assistive technologies and user agents. 

3   Web Accessibility Compliance of Korean Government Web 
Sites 

3.1   Evaluation Methodology 

In order to examine web accessibility compliance status of Korean government web 
sites, 39 agencies were chosen according to Cheong Wa Dae (presidential office) web 
site’s executive branch. This study was conducted in July 2006 in order to evaluate 
web accessibility compliance of the government web sites.  

The KWCAG 1.0 has 14 checkpoints. However, only 4 major checkpoints, that 
must be the crucial among 14 checkpoints, were considered to evaluate 39 agency 
web sites. 4 checkpoints are summarized in Table 2. To save the resources, only the 
main page (home page) of the web sites is evaluated during the evaluation.  
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Table 2. Minimum requirements used for the web accessibility evaluation 

Checkpoint Minimum Requirement (Pass Criteria) 

Checkpoint  1 

(Alternative text) 

Alternative text of all non-text contents must be pro-
vided more than 90% and every alternative text must be 

a textually equivalent to the function or information. 

Checkpoint  5 

(Frame title) 

The number of frame of a page must be less than 4 and 
each frame must have adequate name.  

Checkpoint  7 

(Keyboard) 

All functionality must be operable at a minimum 
through keyboard. 

Checkpoint 11 

(Logical Structure) 

Structures and/or formats of documents must be organ-
ized to be understandable. 

Two processes have been accomplished: one is an automatic test by using an  
accessibility evaluation tool, and the other is a manual test to inspect undetected  
elements by the automatic test. In the automatic test, KADO-WAH, which was devel-
oped by Korean Agency for Digital Opportunity and promotion (KADO), was used to  
evaluate the existence of alternative text for non-text content, and to evaluate the 
existence of the title of the frame. Manual test was conducted to look at the source 
codes. 

3.2   Results  

Table 3 shows the results of our study. 39 government agencies in Korea were violat-
ing KWCAG checkpoints. Only Ministry of Finance and Economy were conforming 
to 4 checkpoints of KWCAG 1.0 shown in Table 2. 38 agencies did violate at least 
one checkpoint of Table 2. Only 34% of the agencies satisfies the checkpoint 1 (Al-
ternative text), 31% satisfied the checkpoint 2 (Frame), 26% satisfied the checkpoint 
3 (Keyboard), and 64% satisfied the checkpoint 4 (Logical structure). According to 
the study, 6 government agencies did meet none of the minimum requirement. They 
are Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, Ministry of Commerce, Industry and En-
ergy, National Policy Agency, Rural Development Administration, Small and Me-
dium Business Administration, and Industrial Property Office. 
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Table 3. Summary of web accessibility evaluation result (2006. 7) 

Agency name Chckpnt 1 
(Alt-text) 

Chckpnt 5 
(Frame) 

Chckpnt 7 
(Keybrd) 

Chckpnt 11 
(Logical) 

Ministry of Finance and Economy ○ ○ ○ ○ 

Ministry of Education and Human Resource Develop-
ment 

Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Ministry of Science and Technology Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Unification Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

Ministry of Justice ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of National Defense Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Government Administration and Home 
Affairs 

Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Culture and Tourism ○ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Energy Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Ministry of Information and Communication ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Health and Welfare Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Environment Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Ministry of  Labor ○ Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ 

Ministry of Gender Equality Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Construction and Transportation Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Ministry of Planning and Budget ○ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

Government Legislation Agency Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

Government Information Agency ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Patriots and Veterans Administration Agency Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

National Tax Service ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Customs Service ○ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

Supply Administration ○ Ⅹ ○ ○ 

National Statistical Office Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Meteorological Administration Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Supreme Public Prosecutor’s Office Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Military Manpower Administration Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ 

Defense Acquisition Program Administration Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

National Policy Agency Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

National Emergency Management Agency Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ ○ 

Culture Properties Administration Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ ○ 

Rural Development Administration Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Forest Service ○ Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ 

Small and Medium Business Administration Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Industrial Property Office Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Food and Drug Administration Ⅹ ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ 

Fair Trade Commission ○ ○ Ⅹ Ⅹ 
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4   Conclusions 

This study evaluated the web sites of government agencies in Korea. The result shows 
that 97% of the agencies do not conform to 4 major checkpoints of KWCAG 1.0. 
Only one agency was satisfying all the major checkpoints and only 34% of the agen-
cies meet the checkpoint 1 (Alternative text).  

Recently in Korea, associations of the disabled lift up their voice to enact a com-
pulsory regulation for web content providers to make their web pages accessible. As a 
result, the government has recognized the importance of the web accessibility. Korean 
National Assembly has been enacting Disability Discrimination Act. Such a move-
ment and efforts would let KWCAG 1.0 be a mandatory regulation in government 
sectors near soon.  

Korean government also closely observes the development of WCAG 2.0. We be-
lieve the government will start on revision of KWCAG 2.0 soon after WCAG 2.0 
becomes an international guideline. 
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Appendix 1: Evaluation Web Sites  

Agency name Websites 
Ministry of Finance and Economy http://www.mofe.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Education and Human Resource Development http://www.moe.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Science and Technology http://www.most.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Unification http://www.unikorea.go.kr/index.jsp 
Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade http://www.mofat.go.kr/mofat/index.jsp 
Ministry of Justice http://www.moj.go.kr/ 
Ministry of National Defense http://www.mnd.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Government Administration and Home Affairs http://www.mogaha.go.kr/gpms/index.jsp 
Ministry of Culture and Tourism http://www.mct.go.kr/index.jsp 
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry http://www.maf.go.kr/index.jsp 
Ministry of Commerce, Industry and Energy http://www.mocie.go.kr/index2.html 
Ministry of Information and Communication http://www.mic.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Health and Welfare http://www.mohw.go.kr/ 
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Ministry of Environment http://www.me.go.kr/ 
Ministry of  Labor http://www.molab.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Gender Equality http://www.mogef.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Construction and Transportation http://www.moct.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Marine Affairs and Fisheries http://www.momaf.go.kr/ 
Ministry of Planning and Budget http://www.mpb.go.kr/servlet/ 

introScreenServlet 
Government Legislation Agency http://www.moleg.go.kr/ 
Government Information Agency http://www.allim.go.kr/ 
Patriots and Veterans Administration Agency http://www.mpva.go.kr/ 
National Tax Service http://www.nta.go.kr/ 
Customs Service http://www.customs.go.kr/ 
Supply Administration http://www.sarok.go.kr/ 
National Statistical Office http://www.nso.go.kr/ 
Meteorological Administration http://www.kma.go.kr/intro.html 
Supreme Public Prosecutor’s Office http://www.sppo.go.kr/kor/index.jsp 
Military Manpower Administration http://www.mma.go.kr/ 
Defense Acquisition Program Administration http://www.dapa.go.kr/ 
National Policy Agency http://www.police.go.kr/main/index.do 
National Emergency Management Agency http://www.nema.go.kr/ 
Culture Properties Administration http://www.cha.go.kr/korea/ 

newIndex.action 
Rural Development Administration http://www.rda.go.kr/ 
Forest Service http://www.foa.go.kr/ 
Small and Medium Business Administration http://www.smba.go.kr/main/index.jsp 
Industrial Property Office http://www.kipo.go.kr/kpo2/ 

user.tdf?a=user.main.MainApp 
Food and Drug Administration http://www.kfda.go.kr/ 
Fair Trade Commission http://www.ftc.go.kr/ 
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